
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,       CRIMINAL NO. 2:13-cr-20772  
 
Plaintiff,                            HONORABLE GERSHWIN A. DRAIN  

 
vs.             
      

D-1 RASMIEH YOUSEF ODEH, 
 

                    Defendant. 
____________________________/ 
 

RESPONSE AND BRIEF OF UNITED STATES IN OPPOSITION TO 
MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION OF ORDER REVOKING 

DEFENDANT’S BOND  PENDING SENTENCING 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

Following a jury trial, Defendant Rasmieh Yousef Odeh was found guilty of 

the single charge in the indictment, unlawful procurement of citizenship, in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1425(a).  On November 10, the date the verdict was 

returned, the Court conducted a detention hearing pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 

§ 3143(a)(1) and ordered defendant detained pending imposition of sentence.  

Defendant has now moved for reconsideration of that order, and the Court has 

ordered the government to respond to the motion.  Because defendant is unable to 

carry her burden of demonstrating, by clear and convincing evidence, that she is 

not a risk of flight, and because defendant’s motion “merely present[s] the same 
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issues ruled upon by the court, either expressly or by reasonable implication,” E.D. 

Mi. L.R. 7.1(h)(3), and fails to demonstrate “a palpable defect by which the court 

and the parties and other persons entitled to be heard on the motion have been 

misled,” id., the motion should be denied. 

ARGUMENT 

DEFENDANT CANNOT CARRY HER BURDEN OF 
DEMONSTRATING, BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING 
EVIDENCE, THAT SHE IS NOT A RISK OF FLIGHT 
 

 Title 18, United States Code, § 3143(a) provides:  

(1) Except as provided in paragraph (2), the judicial 
officer shall order that a person who has been 
found guilty of an offense and who is awaiting 
the imposition or execution of sentence, other 
than a person for whom the applicable guideline 
promulgated pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 994 does not 
recommend a term of imprisonment, be detained, 
unless the judicial officer finds by clear and 
convincing evidence that the person is not likely 
to flee or pose a danger to the safety of any other 
person or the community if released under 
section 3142(b) or (c).  If the judicial officer 
makes such a finding, such judicial officer shall 
order the release of the person in accordance with 
section 3142(b) or (c).1 

 
In granting bond, the paramount issue which the court must address, of 

course, is defendant’s reliability and trustworthiness.  Defendant’s suitability for 
                                                 
1 Thus, defendant’s citation to United States v. Xulam, 84 F.3d 441, 444 

(D.C. Cir. 1996), Docket Entry 133 at 13, Page ID 1304, is inapposite as that case 
involved a defendant seeking bond pending trial, a much lower standard.   
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bond can only rest on a finding that her promise to appear for further proceedings 

is good.  Thus, anything which reflects negatively on defendant’s truthfulness 

detracts from her eligibility for bond, and certainly makes it more difficult for the 

Court to find, by clear and convincing evidence, that she is not a risk to flee. 

1. Defendant’s Lack of Truthfulness and Disrespect 
 For this Court and These Proceedings Demonstrate  

That She Is And Will Remain A Risk of Flight 
 
The Court presided over the trial and certainly is familiar with the evidence.  

It is worth noting, however, that in her recitation of facts in the present motion for 

rehearing, defendant stated that she was released from prison in Israel in 1979 and 

“she moved and was moved several times, finally ending up in Amman, Jordan, in 

1983, where she lived, worked and studied until 1994, when her brother summoned 

her to the U.S. to help care for their father.”  Docket Entry 133 at 9, Page ID 1300.  

What defendant’s statement quite intentionally omits, of course, is where she lived 

from 1979 until 1983: Lebanon.  This same fact, which defendant intentionally 

omitted from her immigrant visa application, constituted one of the charges against 

her in the indictment under which she was convicted.  See Trial Exhibit 2(a), 

question 21 (immigrant visa falsely stating defendant resided in Amman, Jordan, 

from 1948 to the date of filing); Trial Exhibit 1(a), questions 23 & 24 (defendant 

falsely answering “No” to naturalization application questions of whether she 
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EVER had lied to obtain an immigration benefit, or whether she had EVER made 

a false statement to a government official to gain admission to the United States).   

Defendant’s continued false statements here are relevant for two points.  

First, it illustrates that the crime of which defendant was convicted involves 

dishonesty, and in her case serial dishonesty carried out over decades.  The Court 

may properly consider those facts in assessing defendant’s truthfulness, and 

whether her promise to return for sentencing can satisfy her burden in establishing 

worthiness for bond.  Second, it demonstrates that defendant does not respect the 

Court, the trial or these proceedings, because she continues to propound the same 

false statements in the same manner in which she has since 1994.  Such lack of 

respect for this Court and these proceedings of course undermines her assertion 

that she will return as ordered by the Court.   

Moreover, Defendant has publicly stated that the verdict and these 

proceedings were racist and unjust.  See http://electronicintifada.net/blogs/charlotte 

-silver/defense-promises-appeal-guilty-verdict-against-rasmea-odeh (“Speaking to 

reporters, Odeh said, ‘I felt the verdict is not justice, it was a racist verdict.’”).  As 

the Court is aware, during her trial testimony and in the present motion, defendant 

justified her attempted escape from an Israeli prison in 1975 as something that 

anyone unjustly or illegally imprisoned would seek to do.  Docket Entry 133 at 9, 

Page ID 1300.  Even if one is inclined to believe that defendant might view a 
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conviction in a United States District Court differently than her conviction in Israel 

(a possibility which is significantly undercut by defendant’s shouts in the 

courtroom while the Court was meeting with the jury following the return of the 

verdict, and later repeated on the Courthouse steps, that we will find justice 

“maybe not in this court” but someplace else, see  

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ieFeazVZ78Q, at :30 et seq.), it certainly 

raises enough questions about her intentions to preclude her from demonstrating, 

by clear and convincing evidence, that she is not a risk of flight.  18 U.S.C. 

§ 3143(a)(1).  

2. Defendant’s Trial Testimony Directly Violated An Order 
 Of This Court 
 

Few things could more clearly demonstrate a defendant’s unsuitability for 

bond than a history of having violated court orders, as bond represents a 

defendant’s promise to appear as ordered.  Defendant Odeh already has 

demonstrated that she pays no heed to this Court’s orders.  Prior to her testimony, 

the Court directly addressed defendant, reminding her of the rulings and the areas 

she was not allowed to discuss.  Notwithstanding that, Defendant referred to claims 

of torture, referred to her time in prison in Israel as “a political prisoner,” and 

stated that she was not guilty of the crimes charged in Israel.  Each of those 
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statements directly violated the Court’s previous rulings, and thus demonstrates her 

lack of trustworthiness. 

3. Defendant’s Trial Testimony Was Demonstrably False, 
 Manifesting Her Unsuitability for Bond 

In addition, facts relating to the bombings in Israel, and defendant’s claims 

of torture, also shatter any possibility of defendant’s truthfulness and 

trustworthiness.  While such evidence was ruled inadmissible for trial, the Court 

has not ruled it inadmissible for other purposes.  Such evidence is admissible for 

sentencing, see 18 U.S.C. § 3661 (“No limitation shall be placed on the 

information concerning the background, character, and conduct of a person 

convicted of an offense which a court of the United States may receive and 

consider for the purposes of imposing an appropriate sentence.”), and the clarity of 

defendant’s role in the Supersol bombing is something the Court may consider at 

sentencing.  As such, it is relevant for the present purposes because the possible 

sentence is a factor which the court may consider in determining bond.  In 

addition, Fed. R. Evid. 1101(d)(3) provides that the rules of evidence do not  apply 

to “considering whether to release on bail or otherwise.”  The government thus 

offers the following discussion simply to demonstrate that Defendant has been 

serially untruthful for decades, and thus cannot demonstrate eligibility for release 

on bond.  See 18 U.S.C. § 3142(g)(3) (in considering whether to grant bond, the 

court shall consider “the history and characteristics of the person.”). 
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Beginning with her trial in Israel, defendant has consistently claimed that 

she was tortured.  Defendant’s principal claim of torture is that her father was 

forced to attempt to rape her.  Defendant claims that she only confessed to 

participation in the bombings due to torture, and that she is in fact not guilty of 

those offenses.  The claims relating to the bombing are certainly and demonstrably 

false; defendant was the principal architect of the bombings at the Supersol which 

killed two people, and she personally placed the bombs at the British Consulate 

which caused damage but no deaths.  The claims relating to her father also are 

certainly false, and thus undermine her entire narrative to the point that it most 

likely is untrue as well. 

As the Court is aware, defendant appeared in a video entitled Women in 

Struggle, one portion of which was played as an exhibit at trial.  Defendant makes 

the claim regarding her father in the full video, and has in other fora as well.  See 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=v0Va7-cNxf8, at 20:45-21:15. 

At her trial in Israel, defendant sought to suppress her statements, and a 

“trial within a trial,” essentially a suppression hearing, was conducted at which 

defendant and others testified.  After hearing the testimony, the court rejected her 

claim and ruled the statements admissible.   
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The bombings took place on February 21 and February 25, 1969, and she 

and others were arrested on February 28.  (Attachment A, page 721.)2  Her father 

and sister were arrested at the same time.  (Attachment B, page 659.)  On the night 

of her arrest, Sgt. Ezra Kalish, who took also took defendant’s statements, found 

her sleeping in a room with two of her sisters.  He and others searched her house, 

and Sgt. Kalish found explosive bricks in her room.  (Attachment C, page 701.)  

Sgt. Kalish’s search report details the extensive bomb making materials and 

explosives which were found (Attachment D, pages 543-547), and also notes that 

the house’s owner, Defendant’s father Yousef Odeh, was present during the search.  

(See id. at page 543.)  At the trial within a trial, Defendant herself testified: 

On March 1st they beat me on the head and 
shoulders and threatened me that my father, who 
was in solitary confinement, will be left there. My 
sisters were in a room with prostitutes. They also 
threatened me that they will destroy the house. A 
man named Abu Hanni, after undressing me, 
threatened that he was going to rape me. He is a fat 
tall Jew with a moustache and blue eyes. I fainted 
many time over. Yes, I met with my father, many 
times. The first time was when I was first arrested. 
The night of my arrest they brought my father in to 
see me and after I fainted from the blows to my 
head they told my father to explain to me what 
they’re saying and then they will not torture me 

                                                 
2 References to material produced pursuant to Mutual Legal Assistance 

Treaty, hereinafter MLAT, with a Bates number which was attached by the 
Department of Justice.  All MLAT material was provided to the defense in 
discovery.  Copies of MLAT pages referred to herein are attached as Attachments 
to this Response. 
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anymore and release me. At that same time they 
will release [End of Attachment E Page 1009). 
 
[Beginning of Attachment E Page 1011]... at the 
time he was threatening me with rape Abu Ali said 
that he, [ABU Ali] will not rape me but will bring 
my father in to rape me. When my father and 
sisters came in Abu Ali vulgarly cursed them.  
Q.  Did your father say that they asked him to have 
you confess to what they wanted? 
A.  That's correct and my father told me that. My 
father told me that after he saw me in such a 
horrible condition, they promised him that when I 
tell them what they want to hear they'll stop the 
torture and at the same time release him and my 
sisters.  My father’s condition was also very bad. I 
obeyed my father and told them what they wanted.   
 

However, defendant’s statement is certainly false.  Her father, Yousef Odeh, 

was a naturalized United States citizen, and on March 10 was interviewed while in 

custody by an American consular official named Campbell.  Campbell sent a 

Diplomatic Cable to Washington regarding his meeting with Odeh.  The cable was 

sent at 2:33 p.m., Greenwich Mean Time, following an interview with Yousef 

Odeh which had taken place at 12:30 p.m. local time.  Paragraph 5 of the cable, 

which is included in Attachment F to this response, states: 

 
Odeh complains of uncomfortable, overcrowded 
jail conditions, but he apparently receiving no rpt 
[repeat] no worse than standard treatment afforded 
majority detainees at Jerusalem jail. 
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Obviously, if there had been any truth to any of defendant’s claims of 

mistreatment involving her father, let alone that he was being forced to rape her, 

which she testified had begun nine days earlier, her father would have reported it to 

an American consular officer who had come to check on his condition.  Moreover, 

had there been any report of such torture, the consular officer would have 

immediately included it within a cable to Washington.  That there is no report of it 

within the cable demonstrates that the claimed torture did not happen.   

Defendant’s claim of lack of involvement in the bombings is similarly false.  

Defendant’s version of events, provided at the trial within a trial in Israel, was that 

she confessed due to torture.  [Attachment G, page 1023.]  She testified that she 

did not know Rashidah Obedieh [See id. at page 1025], and that she had never been 

to the Supersol in her life.  [See id. at page 1029.]  She testified that ten naked men 

were brought into her cell, and that she was threatened that they and her father 

would rape her if she did not confess.  [See id. at page 1035.]  And she testified 

that “Those who tortured me told me what to write.  They told Kalish that they 

wanted me to write thus and so.  Ezra didn’t allow me to write down any word he 

didn’t want me to.  He tore up many pages because he didn’t want them.”  [See id. 

at page 1025.] 

Additionally, there is reference in the trial within a trial to Yousef Odeh’s 

“testimony.”  It does not appear that such testimony was included in the MLAT 
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material, but some of it was summarized by the court.  According to the transcript, 

Yousef Odeh testified that he told the defendant that she should talk so that the two 

of them would be released and their house would not be demolished.  [Attachment 

H, page 1233.]  “In cross examination, the witness denied that explosive materials 

were found in his house.  As to the large number of empty electric batteries found 

in his house, he said they were used batteries his grandson played with.”  [See id. at 

page 1235.]   

This testimony is again completely belied by the diplomatic cables.  The 

consular officer wrote: 

Odeh denied any knowledge of sabotage.  Stated 
he had been staying Jericho and only returned to 
Bireh day before arrest.  But his two daughters had 
been living in Bireh.  Odeh cannot believe they 
guilty but says cannot be certain.  Odeh was 
present when police found explosives in his house 
but claims he not formerly aware their presence or 
how they could have gotten there.  States police 
have questioned him very little since arrest. 
 

Attachment F, Paragraph 4. 
 

In addition to the admission that explosives were found in his house, 

contradicting his and Rasmieh Odeh’s testimony at the trial within a trial, Yousef 

Odeh’s statement to the consular officer also corroborates another important aspect 

of Rasmieh Odeh’s confession.  In her statement of March 7, Defendant stated, “I 

told her you can come to my place on Thursday, which was the date with Rashidah 
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and Hani to prepare the explosives at my home, and I chose that day because my 

family was not home, they were in Jericho, and usually they do not come on 

Thursdays and Fridays.”  Yousef Odeh said the same thing, telling the American 

consular official that he had been in Jericho and only returned the day before their 

arrest. 

Finally, Defendant’s claim that she was not involved in the bombing is 

demonstrably false.  In Women in Struggle, Aisha Odeh, who was charged with 

defendant in Israel, admitted that she placed the bomb at the Supersol.  In addition, 

she stated that her role was implementing rather than planning, and she thus was 

less involved than others.  Aisha Odeh stated that Rasmieh Odeh and Rashidah 

Obedieh had gone and studied the location in advance.  See 

https://www.youtube.com /watch?v=v0Va7-cNxf8 at 10:10 et seq.; see also 

http://palwatch.org/main.aspx?fi=458&fld_id=458&doc_id=9862.  That version of 

events is precisely what Defendant Rasmieh Odeh admitted in her statement to 

Israeli authorities: 

10 days prior to the explosion I went with a girl 
called Rashidah from Jerusalem to check out the 
location, and we selected the spot where we were 
going to install the explosives in, and we bought a 
lot of stuff from there; like the jam jar which we 
bought in the afternoon as we entered the store 
twice; first at noon time and second time in the 
afternoon.  Before noon time we entered the store 
for a few minutes which was not long enough to 
check the store carefully.  At that point we had 
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picked some items, we paid for them and we left 
with our receipt.   

 
Attachment I, page 4. Interestingly, Aisha Odeh’s recent admissions of the truth 

are in contrast to what she stated in Israel.  In the trial within a trial, she made the 

same false claims of non-involvement and torture as did Defendant Rasmieh Odeh.  

For instance, Aisha Odeh testified that she had nothing to do with the bombings, 

and that she only knew a person named Rashidah from jail.  [Attachment J, page 

1063.]  Her statement in Women in Struggle now shows the falsity of that earlier 

testimony, which was coordinated with Defendant Rasmieh Odeh’s.  [See, e.g., id. 

at page 1061.] 

 In addition, defendant has given interviews throughout the years to various 

other publications in which she admitted her role.  For instance, in an article 

published in the Journal of Palestine Studies, she stated, “I returned to the West 

Bank in early 1969 and was arrested on February 28 and accused of involvement in 

the supermarket explosion in West Jerusalem and another in the British Consulate. 

We had placed a bomb there to protest Britain's decision to furnish arms to Israel. 

Actually we placed two bombs, the first was found before it went off so we placed 

another.”  See http://www.palestine-studies.org/sites/default/files/uploads/files/ 

Prisoners%20for%20Palestine-%20A%20List%20of%20Women%20Political%20 

Prisoners.pdf, at 45.  And finally, defendant’s testimony at the instant trial, in 

which she claimed one of the two sisters who was arrested with her in Israel died 
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in custody is also false.  See id. at 49 (stating that her father and paralyzed sister 

were released after 18 days, and her other sister was released after a year and a 

half). 

What this recitation of evidence demonstrates is that defendant has been 

telling stories for many years without any basis in truth, and continued to tell them 

in the present trial, even after the Court told her directly that such evidence was 

not admissible at trial and could not be the subject of her testimony.  Simply put, 

this entire course of conduct, culminating in defendant’s refusal to heed the Court’s 

orders to her, demonstrates her unreliability and untrustworthiness.  Defendant 

cannot demonstrate by any standard, let alone clear and convincing evidence, that 

she should be released on bond pending sentencing. 

4. Whatever Ties Defendant Has to Chicago or the United States 
Are Insufficient to Overcome, By Clear and Convincing Evidence, 
Her Incentives to Flee and Her Ties Outside the United States 

 
Defendant further claims that she has “unique and extraordinary ties to her 

community in Chicago.”  Docket Entry 133 at 2, ¶  7, Page ID 1293.  Even setting 

aside the obvious hyperbole that her ties are “unique,” i.e., that no other person has 

similar ties, those ties are simply not enough to ensure, by clear and convincing 

evidence, defendant’s appearance as ordered.3  Defendant has had a consistent 

pattern of travel about once per year to the Palestinian Authority, where she has 
                                                 
3 Defendant’s community ties also were previously argued to the Court, and 

do not present anything new.  ED Mi. LR 7.1(h)(3).   
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significant family ties.  In addition to the fact that defendant carries the burden of 

establishing by clear and convincing evidence her unlikeliness to flee, and that fact 

alone supports detention, it is worth noting that the United States has no extradition 

treaty with the Palestinian authority.  Defendant’s claim that any such extradition 

would be handled by Israel, Docket Entry 133 at 5, Page ID 1296, only reinforces 

the point.  The extradition treaty between Israel and the United States only applies 

to offenses punishable by one year or more imprisonment, and which constitute a 

violation of the law of each country.  See Protocol Between the Government of the 

United States and the Government of the State of Israel Amending the Convention 

on Extradition Signed at Washington, D.C. on December 10, 1962, U.S.-Israel, 

July 6, 2005, S. TREATY DOC. NO. 109-3 (2005), Article II, ¶ 1.  There is no 

offense provided for in the treaty which would permit extradition, and obviously 

there is no offense under Israeli law for procuring United States citizenship 

unlawfully, and thus no one would be subject to extradition to the United States for 

having violated 18 U.S.C. § 1425(a).   

Thus, if defendant fled she could not be returned to the United States, she 

would not be sentenced, and she would thus retain her United States citizenship.  

See 8 U.S.C. § 1451(e).  It also is incorrect to assert, as defendant does, that she 

“was offered a plea bargain by which the government would recommend no jail 

time, and she would be free to voluntarily leave the country without being 
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subjected to imprisonment in the immigration system.”  Docket Entry 133 at 13, 

Page ID 1304.  Assuming a rejected plea offer has any relevance to the detention 

issue, the plea offer which was made to defendant provided for a sentence based on 

the computed guideline range, plus defendant’s consent to a judicial order of 

removal.  There was never any possibility of permitting defendant to voluntarily 

leave the country prior to the completion of the present proceedings, and in fact her 

removal would have been by order of this Court.  Defendant touts her rejection of 

the plea agreement as if it demonstrates that she is not a flight risk.  But that fact is 

precisely what the court in United States v. Khanu, 675 F.Supp.2d 69, 71 (D.D.C. 

2009) found created an incentive to flee: “The likelihood of Defendant’s 

deportation is a significant factor supporting a finding that Defendant is a flight 

risk . . .If Defendant will be unable to return to the community after he completes 

his sentence, his current ties to the community (strong or otherwise) provide little 

assurance that he will remain in the jurisdiction long enough to be sentenced.”   

5. Defendant’s Remaining Arguments for Bond Fail 

Defendant asserts that she has Post Traumatic Stress Disorder, and that her 

detention pending sentencing exacerbates her condition.  Defendant asserts that 

“Potentially, Ms. Odeh’s symptoms will increase and may result in a decline in her 

mental status.”  Letter of Mary Fabri, Attachment to Docket Entry 133, Page ID 

1313.  Dr. Fabri’s diagnosis is quite speculative, speaking in terms of “potentially” 
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and “may result,” and in any event do not make possible flight less likely.  In 

addition, Dr. Fabri’s request that defendant be released pending sentencing “to 

allow Ms. Odeh time to psychologically prepare for the upcoming sentencing” 

makes no sense, because, as Dr. Fabri herself has testified, Defendant has 

steadfastly refused to receive treatment from anyone, at any time, for mental 

health.  See testimony of Mary Fabri, Docket Entry 113 at 24-27, Page ID 1178-

1181.  Thus, defendant’s release would not afford her any greater opportunity “to 

psychologically prepare for the upcoming sentencing,” Fabri letter, Attachment to 

Docket Entry 133, Page ID 1313, than did the year she had from the time of her 

indictment until the verdict.   

Defendant makes a number of other arguments.  She states that “Attorney 

James Fennerty . . . would testify that he is willing to have her live in his home, 

and to act as her custodian, assuring the Court that she would return for 

sentencing.”  Id., ¶ C.  Such an arrangement may violate ED Mi. LR 65.1.1, which 

provides that the court will not accept a member of the bar as a surety.  That rule is 

most likely based on the inherent conflict in the situation, in that Defendant would 

be reporting to the Pretrial Services Agency, an arm of the court.  It seems that this 

Court has decided, on a policy basis, to preclude attorneys from being put in such a 

situation.  Mr. Fennerty owes a duty to the court as an officer of it, but he also 
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owes duties to defendant.  What would he or any other attorney do if those duties 

conflicted?   

In any event, as with any third-party custodian, it is difficult to see how Mr. 

Fennerty or any other person could “assure” that Defendant would return for 

sentencing.  How would he undertake to ensure defendant’s appearance if she was 

making preparations to leave the United States?  No such arrangement is workable 

or could reasonably assure the defendant’s appearance. 

In addition, defendant states that “There are also people from Chicago who 

are willing to post their homes as surety to guarantee Ms. Odeh’s bond.  The value 

of these homes exceeds $500,000.”  Docket Entry 133, at 4, Page ID 1295, ¶ G.  Of 

course, no detail is given, no one is told who owns the houses, what the equity is in 

the houses, what stake posting the houses would create for the defendant, or any 

other relevant matter.  As such, it is a meaningless assertion.  

And finally, Defendant devotes a significant percentage of her brief to 

attacks on the Court, criticizing the Court’s temperament, Docket Entry 133 at 14-

15, Page ID 1305-1306, and asking it to exercise “mature reflection” as well as 

“insight and compassion.”  Id. at 13, Page ID 1304.   The government notes simply 

that the Court presided over a highly complex case and trial with patience and 

clarity and hard work, and despite defense attempts to try the case in the media and 

through organized protests.  Even though tested by repeated violations of the 
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Court’s rulings, the Court never once made a comment or decision that was not 

based on law or defensible on appeal, including the decision to revoke defendant’s 

bond following her conviction.  

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should deny the motion for rehearing, 

and continue defendant’s detention pending sentencing. 

       Respectfully submitted, 
 
       BARBARA L. MCQUADE 

United States Attorney 
 
s/Jonathan Tukel                         s/Mark J. Jebson                     
JONATHAN TUKEL (P41642)   MARK J. JEBSON (P53457) 
Assistant United States Attorney  Special Assistant U.S. Attorney 
211 West Fort Street, Suite 2001  211 W. Fort, Suite 2001 
Detroit, MI 48226     Detroit, MI 48226 
(313) 226-9749     (313) 226-9698 
jonathan.tukel@usdoj.gov    mark.jebson@dhs.gov  
 
 
Dated: November 19, 2014 
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List of Attachments 
 
Attachment A Material produced pursuant to Mutual Legal Assistance Treaty, 

pages 719-721. 
 
Attachment B Material produced pursuant to Mutual Legal Assistance Treaty, 

pages 659-660. 
 
Attachment C Material produced pursuant to Mutual Legal Assistance Treaty, 

pages 701-702. 
 
Attachment D Material produced pursuant to Mutual Legal Assistance Treaty, 

pages 543-547. 
 
Attachment E Material produced pursuant to Mutual Legal Assistance Treaty, 

pages 1007-1012. 
 
Attachment F Diplomatic Cable to Washington sent by American consular 

official, Campbell. 
 
Attachment G Material produced pursuant to Mutual Legal Assistance Treaty, 

pages 1023-1037. 
 
Attachment H Material produced pursuant to Mutual Legal Assistance Treaty, 

pages 1233-1236. 
 
Attachment I Statements made by Defendant Rasmieh Odeh to Israeli 

authorities on March 1st and 7th, 1969, translated to English and 
in original Arabic. 

 
Attachment J Material produced pursuant to Mutual Legal Assistance Treaty, 

pages 1061-1064. 
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